### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SAMUEL HECKART,

Individually and on behalf of a Class of all those similarly situated,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

#### A-1 SELF STORAGE, INC., et al

Defendants and Respondents,

# AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE CASE NO. D066831

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

FINKELSTEIN & KRINSK

Jeffery R. Krinsk, Esq. (CBN # 109234)

William R. Restis, Esq. (CBN #246823)

David J. Harris, Esq. (CBN # 286204)

Trenton R. Kashima, Esq. (CBN # 219405)

550 W. C Street, Suite 1760

San Diego, California 92101

Tel. (619) 238-1333; Fax. (619) 238-5425

Attorneys for Appellant

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. If a self-storage facility's form storage rental agreements satisfy the elements of "insurance" under California Insurance Code ("Code") § 22 and satisfy all other elements of "insurance" under Code § 1758.75, are those storage rental agreements regulated "insurance" under the Code? (Yes)
- 2. Is "principal object" a necessary element of every "insurance" contract under the California Insurance Code? (No)
- 3. Is an informal Department of Insurance ("DOI") staff decision regarding alleged "insurance" entitled to judicial deference where there is no evidence that the DOI saw the contracts in question? (No)

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns a far-reaching and unprecedented judicial revision of the California Insurance Code. The California Insurance Code expressly prohibits a specific type of company from selling a specific type of contract without a State-issued license. Respondent A-1 Storage, Inc. ("A-1") is that specific type of company selling that specific type of contract without a State-issued license, yet the Court of Appeal held this to be lawful.

Respondents A-1, Caster Properties, Inc., Caster Family Enterprises, Inc. and Caster Group L.P. (collectively, "A-1 Respondents") are owners and operators of A-1 storage facilities located throughout California. A-1 has been renting out storage units to tens of thousands of consumers over the last decade for the temporary storage of their personal property. In connection with each rental contract, A-1 offers and sells storage "Protections Plans" promising payment of up to \$2,500 to renters in the event of loss or damage to the renters' stored property. Under the Code,

Respondents' Protection Plans are expressly and specifically regulated as storage renters' "insurance" contracts that require a license to sell or carry in California.

According to the Court of Appeal's Opinion, however, there is no such thing as storage renters' "insurance" offered by a storage facility in connection with storage rental agreements. Indeed, if any company grafts standard form insurance policies into its related commercial or consumer contracts, those policies now cease to be "insurance" so long as the policies somehow depend on the non-insurance contracts. Under the Opinion, persons ordinarily subjected to regulation under the Code can now unilaterally exempt themselves from regulation by artfully structuring their transactions around the principal object test. For instance, veterinarian's insurance policies cease to be regulated "insurance" when offered as part of a pet purchase; burglary insurance policies cease to be "insurance" when written into contracts for security services; homeowners' insurance policies cease to be "insurance" when offered in connection with the sale of a house. All of this violates the Insurance Code from top to bottom.

In addition to violating the Code, the Court of Appeal's Opinion distorts 70 years of California jurisprudence by misapprehending a commonly employed doctrine of California "insurance" law: the principal object test. The principal object test has long served as one of several tools of Code interpretation. In determining whether certain risk-shifting contracts constitute "insurance" under the Code general definition, California courts, including this Court, have asked "whether [risk] or something else to which [risk] is related in the [contract] is [the contract's] principal object and purpose." (*Jellins v. Transportation Guarantee Co.* (1946) 29 Cal.2d 242, 249.) The Opinion relies upon this "principal object test" to hold that Respondents' storage insurance policies are not

"insurance" because they are merely tangential or "incidental" components of A-1's storage rental agreements. (See generally Heckart v. A-1 Self Storage, Inc. (Dec. 30, 2015, No. D066831) \_\_\_\_ Cal.Rptr.3d \_\_\_\_ [2015 WL 9582722] [hereinafter, "Opinion"].)

California courts have employed the principal object test to properly deem various contracts non-insurance even where certain risk-shifting agreements existed between contracting parties. But neither this Court nor any Court of Appeal has ever held the principal object test to be a standalone, dispositive test that decides every "insurance" case. In fact, this Court's most recent "insurance" decision says the exact opposite. See Sweatman v. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (2001) 25 Cal.4th 62, 73-74 (rejecting application of the principal object test to an incidental and tangential "spreading of risk within insurance concepts"). The Court of Appeal wrongly held the principal object test to be dispositive of this case—and every conceivable "insurance" inquiry—because it mistook the test for a rigid, standalone inquiry rather than the fact-specific, Codedependent inquiry it has always been. In short, the principal object test has never really been a "test" at all. It has always been the principal object factor, one of several factors courts consider when deciding "insurance" Unfortunately, the Opinion's dispositive principal object test cases. obliterates huge portions of the Insurance Code and threatens to unleash a new species of abusive, unregulated insurance contracts throughout California.

Lacking any real statutory or even common law support for its holding, the Court of Appeal relied largely on a pair of informal Department of Insurance ("DOI") opinion letters ("Staff Letters"), in which a single DOI staff attorney twice declined to regulate Respondents' "Protection Plans" as storage insurance. The Staff Letters consist of a

combined eight sentences that decline to interpret or even mention the Insurance Code. Worse, the record reveals that the DOI did not even *see* Respondents' Protection Plan contracts before rendering its purported "insurance" decisions. The Staff Letters are without any legal or factual basis, and there is no constitutional justification for deferring to such unexplained administrative inaction, particularly in an "insurance" case like this one.

At bottom, every applicable statute supports Appellant's position, every applicable precedent supports Appellant's position, and the Department of Insurance has no position. Respondents' Protection Plans are clear cut, illegal storage renters' insurance policies under the Code, and the Opinion below must be reversed in its entirety.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Respondents are distorting California "insurance" law for their own gain at the expense of consumers.

In 2004, the California Legislature enacted Division 1, Part 2, Chapter 5, Article 16.3 of the Insurance Code, sections 1758.7, et seq. (the "Act" or "Article 16.3"). The Act prohibits self-service storage facilities (hereinafter "storage facilities") from selling storage renters' insurance to their customers without a license from the DOI. (§§ 1758.7 subd.(a)-(b), 1758.75 subd.(a).) In addition to licensing requirements, the Act requires storage facilities offering renters' insurance to comply with consumer disclosure requirements and employee training regimes. (§§ 1758.72, 1758.76.) The Act mandates that when selling storage insurance, a storage facility must employ ethical sales tactics and work with a regulated insurance company that vouches for the facility's trustworthiness and competence to sell storage insurance. (§ 1758.71 subd.(a).) The Act provides that even a *licensed* storage facility can only sell renters' insurance

"on behalf of" an insurer "authorized to write those types of insurance policies" in California. (§§ 1758.7 subd.(b), 1758.75.)<sup>1</sup>

Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint ("FAC") alleges the following facts, which are presumed true here. (*Macias v. State of California* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 844, fn.1.) Respondent Deans & Homer is an insurance company operating in California and across the western United States. (C.T. 204, at ¶ 19.) At all relevant times, Deans & Homer has been writing and selling storage renters' insurance to consumers in California. (C.T. 201, at ¶ 7; 204, at ¶ 19; 209-11, ¶ 40.) Near the end of 2007, a Deans & Homer insurance agent approached A-1 and persuaded A-1 to start selling storage "Protection Plans," on A-1's own behalf, to all of A-1's storage renters in California. (C.T. 205, at ¶ 22.) These Protection Plan contracts are relatively simple. For \$10 per month, A-1 promises each renter up to \$2,500 in the event of certain types of loss or damage to their stored property. (See generally C.T. 229-30.)

The Deans & Homer agent told A-1 that if A-1 sold storage insurance policies for Deans & Homer, then those policies, and A-1 itself, would be subjected to unprofitable "insurance" regulations. (C.T. 205-06, at ¶¶23-27.) But the agent also told A-1 that if A-1 became the carrier—as well as seller—of substantially the same storage insurance policies, then neither A-1 nor the policies would be regulated because the policies would no longer be "insurance" under the Code. (*Ibid.*) This is Deans & Homer's creative distortion of California insurance law: that when a standard form storage renters' insurance policy becomes part of a storage rental agreement, the policy ceases to be regulated "insurance" under the Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To "write" a policy means to serve as the insurer on the policy.

That view was and remains dead wrong, but A-1 accepted it anyway. (Ibid.) Consequently, for a decade, A-1 has been hard-selling all of its renters "Protection Plans" as addenda to A-1's rental agreements. (C.T. 207-09, at ¶¶ 32-37.) Each Protection Plan contract says it is "not a contract of insurance," yet it somehow "satisfies the insurance requirement stated in" A-1's rental agreements. (C.T. 229-30.) When a customer declines the Protection Plan, A-1 automatically enrolls them in it unless they provide A-1 with documentation of other insurance within 30 days. (C.T. 209, at ¶ 37.) Respondents' Protection Plans are nothing but repackaged versions of Deans & Homer's own storage insurance policies. (C.T. 189, at ¶ 3; 206, at ¶ 25-27; 208-09, at ¶ 31.) The only material difference between A-1's Protection Plan and Deans & Homer's regulated insurance is that "the Protection Plan offers less coverage and costs more than Deans & Homer's Customer Storage Insurance Policy." (C.T. 211, at ¶ 42.) In fact, A-1 does not maintain reserves adequate to pay "Protection Plan" claims. (C.T. 213, at ¶ 48.)

Deans & Homer not only drafted and provided A-1 with the Protection Plan contracts themselves, it also gave A-1 "Protection Plan" claim forms (read: "storage insurance" claim forms) and a series of procedures for executing this new "Protection Plan" line of business. (C.T. 206, at ¶¶ 26-27.) Deans & Homer then reinsured A-1—not storage renters—for some of the losses that A-1 might incur in paying Protection Plan claims. (C.T. 206-07, at ¶¶ 28-30.) Under this reinsurance agreement, A-1 grants Deans & Homer the continuing right to adjust and settle Protection Plan claims directly with A-1's customers. (C.T. 207, at ¶ 29.) Thus, claimants who suffer losses have no right to recover from the well-regulated, well-capitalized insurance company, yet the insurance company maintains the right to limit renters' recoveries from A-1. (Ibid.)

In sum, Deans & Homer:

- (1) crossed out its own name from its storage renters' insurance policies and wrote in A-1's name as the insurer; (C.T. 207, at ¶ 31)
- (2) increased the premiums and slashed the coverage on those policies; (C.T. 209-11, at ¶¶ 40-42)
- (3) gave those insurance policies to unlicensed, unregulated A-1 to sell on A-1's own behalf; (C.T. 205-06, at ¶¶ 22-27) and
- (4) secured its own profits by collecting reinsurance premiums from A-1 and maintaining substantial control over renters' "Protection Plan" claims, so as to limit its own liability to A-1 under the reinsurance agreement. (C.T. 206-07, at ¶¶ 28-31.)

As a result of all this, Plaintiff and the Class have overpaid for illegal, deceptive and inferior renters' insurance policies that had no business being on the market to begin with, much less as part of an autoenrollment scheme. (C.T. 213, at ¶ 48.)

#### B. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed the FAC on April 14, 2014 after a limited opportunity for discovery. The FAC asserts causes of action under California's Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq., the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Civ. Code §§ 1750, et seq., and claims of negligent misrepresentation and civil conspiracy. (C.T. 219-26, at ¶¶ 63-101.) The Complaint alleges the above facts and seeks damages, restitution, and declaratory and injunctive relief based on A-1's illegal sale of storage renters' "insurance" policies in violation of the Code. (C.T. 226-27) Plaintiff seeks to represent a multiyear Class of A-1's storage customers who have bought and continue to buy A-1's sham "Protections Plans" throughout California. (C.T. 216-17, at ¶ 56.)

In the Superior Court, Respondents demurred to the FAC, arguing

that their "Protection Plan" addenda could not be "insurance" policies under the principal object test. (C.T. 232-252.) The Superior Court applied the principal object test as dispositive and held that Respondents' Protection Plans were not storage renters' insurance because they were tangential to A-1's storage rental contracts. (*Heckart v. A-1 Self Storage*, *Inc.* (Super. Ct. San Diego County, 2014, No. 37-2013-00042315).)

Plaintiff appealed, arguing that Respondents' Protection Plans are obviously storage renters' "insurance" under Article 16.3 and that the principal object test must be reconciled with the Code's specific "insurance" definitions: especially those that are necessarily incidental to and dependent on some other transaction. Respondents, on the other hand, urged the Court of Appeal to apply their (distorted) principal object test as dispositive regardless of Article 16.3. The Court of Appeal applied Respondents' distorted, dispositive version of the principle object test to deem their Protection Plans non- insurance under the Code. (See Opinion at 9-10.) Purporting to rely on Truta v. Avis Rent A Car Sys., Inc. (1987) 193 Cal.App.3d 802, the Court of Appeal held that Respondents' Protection Plans were not storage renters' insurance because the primary purpose of the overall transaction between Appellant and A-1 was "the rental of storage space." (Id.) In addition, the Court of Appeal relied on two Staff Letters that Deans & Homer procured from the DOI in 2003 and 2008, respectively, in which the same DOI staff attorney twice declined to regulate Respondents' Protection Plan "program" as insurance. (Opinion at 12-13.) For these two reasons, the Court of Appeal held Respondents' Protection Plans to be mere risk-shifting contracts rather than storage renters' insurance within the meaning of Article 16.3. (See generally Opinion at 1-13.)

This Court granted Appellant's Petition for Review on March 16,

### IV. RESPONDENTS' PROTECTION PLANS ARE STORAGE RENTERS' "INSURANCE" UNDER THE CODE.

## A. The Code expressly regulates the precise contracts and parties in question.

As in any case involving statutory interpretation, this Court must "ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law." (California Teachers Ass'n v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified School Dist. (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 632. [quoting Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Emp. & Housing Com. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386].) Ascertaining the Legislature's probable intent "begin[s] with the statutory text." (Harris v. City of Santa Monica (2013) 56 Cal.4th 203, 215.) Specifically, in insurance cases, this Court "begin[s] with the plain language of the [Code], ... viewing [the words] in their statutory context, because the language employed in the Legislature's enactment generally is the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (Fluor Corp. v. Superior Court (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1175, 1198.) The Code's "plain meaning controls if there is no ambiguity in the statutory language." (Ibid.) "If, however, the statutory language may reasonably be given more than one interpretation, courts may consider various extrinsic aids, including the purpose of the statute, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, and the statutory scheme encompassing the statute." (Ibid. [internal quotations omitted])

Here, the Code unambiguously identifies Respondents' Protection Plans as storage insurance, and every extrinsic aid of statutory interpretation bears this out.

1. The Code unambiguously shows that Respondents' Protection Plans are regulated insurance.

The Code defines "insurance" generally as "a contract whereby one

undertakes to indemnify another against loss, damage or liability arising from a contingent or unknown event." (§ 22.) Satisfaction of Section<sup>2</sup> 22 typically requires two contractual elements: shifting one party's risk of loss to another party, and distributing that risk among similarly situated persons. (*E.g., Title Ins. Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 715, 725-26.) There is no dispute here that Respondents' Protection Plans satisfy both elements of Section 22.

In 2004, the Legislature enacted Assembly Bill 2520 to add Sections 1758.7, et seq. (the "Act" or "Article 16.3") to the California Insurance Code. Article 16.3 governs the circumstances under which storage facilities like A-1 may offer storage renters' insurance to their customers. (*Ibid.*) The Act first provides:

No self-service storage facility . . . shall offer or sell insurance unless it has complied with the requirements of this article and has been issued a license . . . to offer or sell the types of insurance specified in Section 1758.75 in connection with and incidental to [storage] rental agreements . . . ."

(§§ 1758.7 subd.(a)-(b).)<sup>3</sup> Section 1758.75 then specifies the "types of insurance" that only a licensed storage facility may sell:

A self-storage facility . . . licensed under this article may [sell storage insurance] for an authorized insurer only with respect to the following types of insurance and only in connection with, and incidental to, self-storage rental agreements: ¶(a) Insurance that provides hazard insurance coverage to renters for the loss of, or damage to, tangible personal property in storage or in transit during the rental period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The word "Section" herein refers to the applicable section(s) of the California Insurance Code.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All emphasis herein is added unless otherwise stated.

#### (§ 1758.75.) The Act further provides that:

If any person sells insurance in connection with, or incidental to, self-service storage rental agreements . . . without obtaining the license required by this article, the commissioner may issue a cease and desist order . . .

#### (§ 1758.74.)

The elements of Section 1758.75 storage "insurance" are therefore: (1) an "insurance" contract, (2) providing "coverage" against "hazards," (3) to storage "renters," (4) "for the loss of, or damage to, [renters'] tangible personal property," (5) while such property is "in storage or in transit during the rental period." (§ 1758.75.) Here, Respondents' Protection Plans:

- (1) are "insurance" contracts "whereby [A-1] undertakes to indemnify [thousands of storage 'renters'] against loss, damage or liability arising from [] contingent or unknown event[s]"; (§ 22; C.T. 209-12)
- (2) promise renters cash "coverage" of up to \$2,500 per renter in the event of potential "hazards" like fire, smoke, explosions, theft, vandalism, roof leaks, violent windstorms, or collapse of a self-storage building; (§ 1758.75; C.T. 229-30)
- (3) provide coverage specifically for "loss[es] of, or damage to, [renters'] tangible personal property" caused by the above hazards; (Ibid.) and
- (4) cover renters' property while such property is "in storage . . . during the rental period." (Ibid.)

Respondents' Protection Plans manifestly satisfy Section 22's general definition of "insurance" as well as Section 1758.75's specific definition of storage renters' "insurance," so they are regulated "insurance" under the Code. (See § 5 ["Unless the context otherwise requires, the general provisions of [§ 22] shall govern the construction of this code."].)

This case is that simple.

Moreover, storage facilities like A-1 are unambiguously included in Section 1758.74's prohibition against "any person" selling such "incidental" renters' insurance without an Article 16.3 license. (§§ 1758.74, 1758.75; see also § 19 ["Person' means any person, association, organization, partnership, business trust, limited liability company, or corporation."]. And in case A-1 Respondents might (somehow) still wonder whether the Act or the Code applies to them, the Act practically singles them out for regulation. (§ 1758.7 ["No self-service storage facility ... shall offer or sell ... the types of insurance specified in Section 1758.75 in connection with and incidental to [storage] rental agreements ...."].)

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