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

# a. Decisions of the California Supreme Court

The principal object test was first articulated in *California Physicians' Service v. Garrison* (1946) 28 Cal.2d 790. There, this Court considered whether California Physicians' Service (CPS) was engaged in insurance by virtue of agreements under which (i) CPS pooled dues paid by its patient-members, and (ii) medical

SMRH:478343171.3 -16-

providers agreed that, if they provided medical services to a member, they would look only to those pooled dues for payment. This Court held that CPS was not engaged in insurance for several reasons. One reason was that, by virtue of its agreements with the medical providers, CPS bore no risk of paying out more than it collected. (*Id.* at pp. 806-07.) But the "more compelling" reason was that the principal object of the agreements was medical service, not indemnity:

There is another and more compelling reason for holding that the service is not engaged in the insurance business. Absence or presence of assumption of risk or peril is not the sole test to be applied in determining its status. The question, more broadly, is whether, looking at the plan of operation as a whole, 'service' rather than 'indemnity' is its principal object and purpose.

(Id. at p. 809.)

Later the same year, this Court again applied the principal object test in *Transportation Guaranty Co. v. Jellins, supra*, 29 Cal.2d 242. There, the Court considered a truck maintenance contract under which the contractor "agree[d] to make good any damage done to Owner's motor vehicle caused by collision, except the first \$25.00 of each claim, which shall be paid by Owner." (*Id.* at p. 247.) The owner argued that this language (together with other contract language) established that the maintenance company assumed the risk of collision loss to the owner's trucks and, thus, created an illegal contract of insurance. (*Ibid.*)

This Court rejected the argument on two grounds. The first was that, on the judgment roll appeal, there was insufficient evidence to overturn the trial court's contrary interpretation of the contract. (*Id.* at pp. 244, 247-48.) Second, even assuming the contractor had assumed the risk of loss from collision, the Court explained that "a sound jurisprudence does not suggest the extension, by judicial construction, of the insurance laws to govern every contract involving an assumption of risk or indemnification of loss." (*Id.* at p. 248.)

Instead, a court must consider whether the parties' risk agreement is subordinate and related to some other principal object:

"The fallacy is in looking only at the risk element, to the exclusion of all others present or their subordination to it. The question turns, not on whether risk is involved or assumed, but on whether that or something else to which it is related in the particular plan is its principal object and purpose."

(Id. at p. 249, quoting Jordan v. Group Health Assn. (D.C. Cir. 1939) 107 F.2d 239, 245, italics supplied.) The Court then applied the principal object test and held that the contract provisions "seem to amply support the conclusion that, as stated in the contract itself, 'the major part of Contractor's service is the supplying of labor.'" (Id. at p. 252, italics supplied.)

This Court more recently applied the principal object test in *Title Ins. Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization*, supra, 4 Cal.4th 715. There, various title companies contracted with title insurers to perform services in connection with issuing title insurance

policies, including title searches. (*Id.* at p. 720.) The title companies further agreed that they, rather than the title insurer, would pay some of the title insurance claims. Under some contracts, the title companies agreed to pay claims without regard to fault, while under other contracts they agreed to pay only if the claim resulted from the title company's "negligence in searching title." (*Id.* at pp. 720-22.) The Board of Equalization argued that the title companies' assumption of risks that would otherwise fall on the title insurer constituted an "illegal contract of insurance." (*Id.* at p. 725.)

This Court disagreed. Citing the principal object test, the Court concluded that the indemnity obligations assumed by the title companies were secondary to the main purpose of the contracts, which was for the title company to perform a diligent title search and carry out other formalities associated with issuing the policies:

The indemnification provisions are secondary to the main object and purpose of the underwriting agreements. In fact, the agreements to indemnify appear to be designed, at least in part, to give the underwritten title companies an incentive to perform their title search in a nonnegligent manner, as the title companies are in the best position to eliminate possible risk.

(Title Ins. Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization, supra, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 726-27.) The Court therefore concluded that "the title company is not involved in the illegal practice of insurance even if an underwritten title company is deemed to have provided

indemnification in connection with the main purpose of its contract with the title insurer." (*Id.* at p. 727, italics supplied.)

# b. Decisions of the Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal has likewise applied the principal object test to decide whether a contract is subject to regulation as insurance. In *Truta v. Avis Rent A Car System, Inc., supra,* 193 Cal.App.3d 802, the court considered a collision damage waiver option offered by a car rental company, under which the company waived the renter's liability for damage to the rental car. The court noted that "a persuasive argument can be made that the [collision damage waiver] transaction meets" the elements of insurance under Insurance Code section 22. (*Id.* at p. 812.) Still, the court concluded that the transaction was not subject to regulation as insurance because:

The principal object and purpose of the transaction before us, the element which gives the transaction its distinctive character, is the rental of an automobile. . . . [The] tangential risk allocation provision should not have the effect of converting the defendants as contracting lessors into insurers subject to statutory regulation.

(Id. at p. 814.)

In Automotive Funding Group, Inc. v. Garamendi, supra, 114 Cal.App.4th 846, the court addressed a program offered by car finance lender under which borrowers had the option of either (i) insuring the car against damage and theft, or (ii) participating in the lender's Loss Damage Waiver ("LDW") program. Under

the LDW program, the lender agreed to cancel the borrower's debt in the event of a total loss to the car, and had the option to repair the car, at its own expense, in the event of damages less than a total loss. (*Id.* at p. 850.)

The DOI argued, inter alia, that the LDW should be considered insurance because it was mandatory. (*Id.* at p. 854.) The court rejected this argument, finding that the LDW was not mandatory but was offered as an alternative to insurance, and that:

Offering an alternative to insurance does not mean that the alternative *is* insurance.

(Id., italics in original.) The DOI also argued that the LDW included various insurance-like characteristics, including a deductible and the use of insurance adjusters to determine if a car had suffered a total loss. The court likewise rejected these factors as irrelevant, holding instead that the proper focus of inquiry was the parties' principal object:

Instead, as the cases cited above make clear, the true focus is on the nature and terms of the LDW, and whether the risk-shifting accomplished by the LDW is the principal object and purpose of AFG's transactions.

(*Id.* at p. 855.) The Court concluded that the arrangement did not constitute insurance because "the primary objective of [the defendant's] transactions is to finance a used car purchase," and the LDW served the secondary objective of protecting the lender's security interest. (*Ibid.*)

# c. Decisions of other jurisdictions

Other jurisdictions have also relied on the principal object test to decide whether an agreement constitutes insurance. (See, e.g., Allen v. Burnet Realty, LLC (Minn. App. 2010) 784 N.W.2d 84, 88-89, aff'd on other grounds 801 N.W.2d 153 [agreement to defend and settle claims against independent contractors]; Castleberry v. Goldome Credit Corp. (11th Cir. 2005) 418 F.3d 1267, 1272-73 [indemnity provision in sale agreement]; Kinkaid v. John Morrell & Company (N.D. Iowa 2004) 321 F.Supp.2d 1090, 1099-1100 [agreement to pay for livestock that die in transit]; Boyle v. Orkin Exterminating Co. (Fla. App. 1991) 578 So.2d 786, 787-88 [lifetime guarantee against termite damage]; Rayos v. Chrysler Credit Corp. (Tex. App. 1985) 683 S.W.2d 546, 548 [vehicle extended service plan]; GAF Corp. v. County School Bd. of Washington County, Va. (4th Cir. 1980) 629 F.2d 981, 983-84 [agreement by product supplier to indemnify for damages caused by third-party's negligence in installing the product]; New Mexico Life Ins. Guaranty Ass'n v. Moore (N.M. 1979) 93 N.M. 47, 50-51 [health care service plan]; Huff v. St. Joseph's Mercy Hospital (Iowa 1978) 261 N.W.2d 695, 700-01 [pre-paid obstetrical contracts]; Korn v. Avis Rent-a-Car Sys., Inc. (Pa. Com. Pl. 1977) 8 Pa. D. & C.3d 640, 646-47 [rental collision damage waiver]; State ex rel. Londerholm v. Anderson (1965) 195 Kan. 649, 663 [provision cancelling contract payments upon death of purchaser of cemetery lot]; Jordan v. Group Health Ass'n (D.C. Cir. 1939) 107 F.2d 239, 248 [nonprofit organization providing medical services to members].)

In Allen v. Burnet Realty, LLC, supra, 784 N.W.2d 84, for example, the court considered an agreement under which a licensed real estate broker, in exchange for a \$450 annual charge, offered a legal assistance (LA) program under which it would defend and indemnify its independent contractor sales agents up to \$1 million with respect to third-party claims related to matters within the scope of the parties' independent contractor relationship. (Id. at p. 86.) The court, noting that such third-party claims involved a shared risk because the broker was vicariously liable for the acts of its agents and exercised some control over the risk, held:

In light of this relationship, the LA Program functions less as a traditional insurance program and more as an arrangement to share potential risk. The "principal purpose and object" of the [independent contractor agreement], of which the LA Program is a part, is to sell real estate. The LA Program operates to spread the risk of a "defective product," in this case, a dispute in the sales process, between the parties to the [independent contractor agreement]. Burnet, as a real estate broker, retains responsibility for the actions of an agent acting within the terms of the [independent contractor agreement]; by requiring adherence to its policies, Burnet exercises a degree of control over the risk of incurring losses. Thus we conclude the LA Program is not insurance or "indemnity for hire."

(Id. at p. 89.)

In Castleberry v. Goldome Credit Corp., supra, 418 F.3d 1267, the seller of a portfolio of loans agreed to defend and indemnify the buyer against any claim arising out of the origination of the loans within three years of the sale. (Id. at p. 1269.) The court applied the principal object test to hold that the indemnity provision did not constitute insurance:

Moreover, although the loan portfolio sale agreement contains an indemnity provision, it is not primarily an indemnity contract. Rather, it is a sale contract with an indemnity clause covering the event that the instruments sold enmeshed the buyer in litigation. The indemnity clause functioned as an inducement to the buyer to enter into the sale transaction. When assumption of risk is only collateral to a contract that has a principal purpose other than risk shifting, the contract is not a contract of insurance

(Id. at pp. 1272-73.)

In Boyle v. Orkin Exterminating Co., supra, 578 So.2d 786, Orkin provided a lifetime guarantee against termite damage in exchange for an additional payment. The company promised both to re-treat the property if termites reappeared and also to replace any property damaged by termites. (Id. at p. 787.) The court observed:

In the instant case the overall purpose of the guarantee was to add service to the "sale" of appellee's termite treatment program. Appellee was not in the business of providing guarantees but in providing pest control service.

(Id.) Citing the "principal object" standard and this Court's decision in Transportation Guarantee Co. v. Jellins, supra, 29

Cal.2d 242, the court concluded: "We think application of these principles supports the trial court's conclusion that Orkin's guarantee was no more than a warranty of its service both as to the product itself and the method of application." (*Id.* at p. 788.)

Similarly, in Rayos v. Chrysler Credit Corp., supra, 683
S.W.2d 546 at p. 548, the court – citing Transportation Guarantee
Co. v. Jellins, supra, 29 Cal.2d 242 – applied the principal object
test to conclude that a vehicle "protection plan" was not
insurance. Rather, it was "more in the nature of a warranty to
repair certain defects than an insurance policy which undertakes
to pay a sum of money upon certain conditions." (Ibid.) Despite
recognizing that warranties "may contain all the elements of an
insurance contract," the court reasoned that warranties differ
from insurance because they "provide protection against defects
or failures in a product, where an insurance policy is issued to
provide reimbursement or indemnity based on an accident or
occurrence unrelated to any defect or failure in the product."
(Ibid.)

In GAF Corp. v. County School Bd. of Washington County, Va., supra, 629 F.2d 981, a roofing product supplier agreed to repair damages caused by the faulty workmanship of third-party contractors who installed the products. (Id. at p. 982.) The court acknowledged that the agreement did "contain an 'insurance' component because the risk of damage from leaks caused by faulty workmanship was transferred to GAF." (Id. at p. 983.) Nevertheless, the court held that the agreement as a whole did

not constitute insurance because the risk transference was a "relatively unimportant element of the transaction and is incidental to the essential character of the guarantee, which is that of a warranty agreement accompanying the sale of goods." (*Id.* at pp. 983-84.)

# 2. Application: the principal object of the contract was a lease, so the contract is not subject to regulation as insurance

Because the Legislature has not acted in 70 years to replace the principal object test, it is the proper test to apply here. Where the Legislature has not acted to change a longstanding judicial rule, "it is up to the Legislature to change it if it is to be changed." (Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co., supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 178.) Applying the principal object test here, the agreement between Heckart and A-1 is not subject to regulation as insurance.

Most simply, the principal object of the transaction – the element which gives the transaction its "distinctive character" (*Truta v. Avis Rent A Car System, Inc., supra*, 193 Cal.App.3d at p. 812) – plainly was leasing the storage unit. Self-storage is A-1's business, and storing his belongings is the reason Heckart contracted with A-1. But for their relationship as landlord and tenant, there would be no reason for A-1 to offer to Heckart – and no reason for Heckart to seek from A-1 – any sort of agreement about financial responsibility in the event of damage to stored property.

Moreover, the parties' risk allocation arrangement was subservient to, and reasonably furthered, their principal object of a storage lease. Instead of arguing after a loss about whether A-1's negligence caused or contributed to the damage, the parties can allocate financial responsibility for such risks ahead of time, thereby avoiding disputes and advancing their principal object: a problem-free lease. Not only does such an agreement further a non-insurance principal object, but it furthers California's public policy favoring settlement over litigation. (See, e.g., Lehto v. Allstate Ins. Co. (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 60, 75 [noting "California's strong public policy in favor of settlement"].)

Indeed, this Court itself has identified risk shifting provisions in leases – specifically, "[t]he lessee who agrees to hold his lessor harmless for damage to property of, or injury to, third persons occurring on the premises [or] the lessor who agrees to keep the premises in repair" – as an example of a type of arrangement that should not be subject to regulation as insurance. (*Transportation Guarantee Co. v. Jellins, supra*, 29 Cal.2d at p. 248.)

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